RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-26-2015 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

MAYA ELAINE SMITH

Plaintiff,

VS.

Appeal No. 2015AP000079

JEFF ANDERSON, d/b/a ANDERSON REAL ESTATE SERVICES

Defendant, Third-Party Plaintiff,

VS.

4TH DIMENSION DESIGN, INC.

Third-Party Defendant,

R&B CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Third-Party Defendant-Appellant,

WEST BEND MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Intervenor-Respondent.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF OF THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANT R&B CONSTRUCTION, INC.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County The Honorable Pedro A. Colon Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 2013CV007085

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did West Bend have a duty to defend its insured, R&B, against a third party complaint alleging that R&B was responsible for water leakage and clogging of the drain tile system in the plaintiff's house?

Answered by the trial court: No.

Does the insurance policy at issue provide R&B with coverage for a claim that R&B's work in straightening the basement walls caused water leakage and clogging of the drain tile system in the plaintiff's house?

Answered by the trial court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The third party defendant-appellant R&B does not request oral argument, but requests publication. The defendant-appellant does not request oral argument,

because the issues can be adequately addressed by written briefs. The defendant-appellant requests publication because the issues involved in this case are of general importance to developing the law relating to an insurance company's duty to defend.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural history. The defendant and third-party plaintiff Jeff Anderson d/b/a Anderson Real Estate Services ("Anderson") sold the plaintiff Maya Elaine Smith ("Smith") a house located at 3034 North 91st Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the "house"). On August 2, 2013, Smith sued Anderson for misrepresenting the condition of the house. [R.1, App., pp.56-63¹] Smith alleged that after buying the house, she discovered that the drain tiles were plugged with iron ochre and the basement leaked. [R.1,¶5, App., p.59]

Smith did not file any claims against R&B in either her Complaint or Amended Complaint², and has nowhere claimed that R&B made any misrepresentations or that R&B's work (described below) was defective.

On January 2, 2014, the defendant Anderson filed a third party complaint against 4th Dimension Design, Inc. ("4th Dimension"), an engineering firm, and

¹The complaint is attached to the third party summons and complaint, served on R&B [R.11,App., pp.56-63].

² Smith filed an amended complaint on January 27, 2014. [R.16, App., pp.64-71] Anderson filed an answer to the amended complaint on February 13, 2014. [R.20]

R&B, alleging that Anderson was entitled to indemnification and contribution.

[R.11, App., pp.49-63]

R&B tendered the third party complaint to its insurer, West Bend. West Bend engaged counsel and answered the third party complaint for R&B on February 17, 2014. [R.20] On February 21, 2014, West Bend filed a motion to intervene and to bifurcate and stay the proceedings. [R.21] With its motion it filed a proposed intervenor complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that there was no coverage under its policy and that it had no duty to defend R&B. [R.23] The trial court granted West Bend's motions for intervention and a stay on April 28, 2014. A written order was entered on May 27, 2014. [R.26]

R&B retained separate counsel and on June 18, 2014, filed an answer and counterclaim contesting West Bend's intervenor complaint. [R.30, App., pp.127-129] West Bend answered R&B's counterclaim on July 3, 2014. [R.31]

On August 6, 2014, West Bend moved for summary judgment against R&B, filing a motion, brief, and affidavit. [R.32; R.33; R.34, App.,pp.130-157] West Bend sought a declaratory judgment that its policy did not provide coverage and that it had no duty to defend R&B. R&B responded with a brief and affidavit on September 26, 2014. [R.37; R.38, App., pp.158-160] West Bend filed a reply brief on October 20, 2014. [R.40] On November 4, 2014, the trial court heard oral argument and granted West Bend's motion in a ruling from the bench. The trial court's decision was as follows:

I'm going to grant the summary judgment on the issue of coverage. I just don't see what the occurrence is based on my review of all the allegations in the complaint and the amended complaint and third party complaint. Additionally, you know, the third party complaint does not include any requests for property repairs or property damage. Third party complaint simply doesn't describe any occurrence as it is defined in the policy and it just seeks to affirmatively require that R&B performed all repairs and work properly. And that by itself doesn't constitute an occurrence.

In addition, there's that exclusion. And it's the insurance policy does not apply, quote, if the property damage — that particular part of the real property which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on your behalf are performing the operations if the, quote, property damage arises out of the operations or in that particular part of the property that must be restored, repaired, or replaced because of, quote, your work was performed — incorrectly performed on it. End of quote.

I just don't — I can't get over the fact that there isn't a theory for liability that affirmatively engages the policy to an extent that they would have a duty to defend. Now I know this is — And I understand your point and I'm not glossing over it. I understand that this is sort of like the chicken and the egg argument or as I stated before, facts chasing the theory. And I can see your point, but I just don't think that's enough to overcome what the pleadings indicate. That is — And as you indicated, maybe this question is right for a summary judgment motion. This is obviously not the appropriate time to review that, but I don't know. I think at some point all of the parties will have to get together and affirmative — direct this court as to what the theory of liability is and then we can get to that point but I just don't think today I can get to that.

[R.64, pp.23-25, App.,pp.25-27]

In view of the trial court's decision, on November 13, 2014, R&B filed a motion for summary judgment and/or judgment on the pleadings seeking dismissal of the third party complaint against it and a motion for an order staying entry of

the judgment in favor of West Bend pending the trial court's decision on R&B's own motion for dismissal. [R.42; R.43; R.44]

On November 11, 2014, two days before R&B filed its motion, counsel for West Bend had filed a proposed final judgment in favor of West Bend under the five-day rule. [R.41] The trial court mistakenly signed the proposed judgment the day it was filed, but on November 13, 2014, vacated the order and directed West Bend to resubmit a proposed order.

R&B's motions for a stay and for summary judgment on liability were scheduled to be heard on January 5, 2015. [R.42] However, before the hearing date, the trial court entered final judgment in favor of West Bend. On November 14, 2014, West Bend re-submitted a proposed order for final judgment in its favor. [R.46] On November 21, 2014, R&B filed a letter confirming that its pending motion asked the Court to stay entry of this judgment. [R.47] Notwithstanding R&B's pending motion, on November 25, 2014, the trial court signed and filed the final judgment submitted by West Bend. [R.48] West Bend filed a notice of entry of judgment on December 8, 2014. [R.49]

At the trial court's request, R&B's motions scheduled to be heard on January 5, 2015, were rescheduled to January 8, 2015. [R.53, R.56] By that time, R&B's motion to stay entry of the judgment had been *de facto* denied by the trial court's entry of judgment in favor of West Bend, and the trial court only

considered R&B's motion for summary judgment as to liability. The trial court decided R&B's motion for summary judgment from the bench as follows:

So with the evidence before the court, there's - and taking all inferences in favor of the defendant, I can't find that there's not a dispute of material fact. I think there is a dispute of material fact and the allocation of responsibility within or - negligence within which is allocated, I am not sure about at this juncture nor do I have to decide.

I'm not - I'm not sure what's causing the problem with the basement at least not from any of the filings. Clearly, there's moisture down there I think everybody agrees....

Based on that, I'm going to deny the motion for summary judgment...

[R.65,pp.17-18, App.,pp.45-46] The trial court then entered a written order denying R&B's motion for summary judgment on January 27, 2015. [R 61]

On January 8, 2015, R&B filed its Notice of Appeal as to the final judgment entered in favor of West Bend. [R.62] R&B filed a petition for review of the trial court's denial of its motion for summary judgment on February 10, 2015. Its petition was denied on March 12, 2015 (in Case No. 2015AP276-LV).

Statement of Facts. According to her complaint, after buying the house Smith discovered that the drain tiles were plugged with iron ochre and the basement leaked. [R.1, ¶5, App.,p.59] Smith alleged that in order to repair or correct the condition of the property she will need to replace the drain tile and install drain tile. [R.1, ¶7, App.,p.59] (The Amended Complaint added the allegation, at ¶5, that Anderson performed structural repair work without obtaining

the required permits, and, at ¶7, that to repair or correct the condition of the property, Smith will need to obtain the proper permits. [R.16,p.2, App.,p.67])

In her complaint against Anderson, Smith pled causes of action for intentional misrepresentation, violation of §§ 895.446 and 943.20(1)(d) Stats. (by false representations) and violation of §100.18 (by untrue, deceptive and misleading representations). Smith asserted a cause of action for breach of contract, where the claimed breach is that Anderson failed to disclose adverse conditions affecting the house in his real estate condition report.

Smith did not file any claims against R&B in either her Complaint or Amended Complaint, and has nowhere claimed that R&B made any misrepresentations or that R&B's work was defective.

Anderson denied Smith's complaint and filed a third party complaint against 4th Dimension Design, Inc. ("4th Dimension") and R&B. In this third party complaint, Anderson alleged that he hired an engineer, 4th Dimension, to inspect and make recommendations as to any repairs and reinforcement, if any, that may be required to repair any defects, if any, that existed in the basement walls and foundation of the house. [R.11,p.2,¶4, App.,p.52] 4th Dimension inspected the house, prepared a report and provided a detailed plan for reinforcing the basement walls. [R.11,p.2,¶5, App.,p.52] Anderson then directed R&B to perform repairs in accord with the report and drawings provided by 4th Dimension, and R&B did so "in accord with the design drawings." [R.11,p.2,¶6-7, App.,p.52]

Anderson alleges that "in addition thereto" he hired R&B, to address potential water seepage along the east wall of the basement. Anderson alleges that R&B did an inspection and observed that the east wall of the basement was subject to a descending grade and was subject to potential water run-off draining in the direction of the east wall of the property. [R.11,p.2,¶8, App.,p.52] Anderson also alleged that at R&B's recommendation, he directed R&B to install drain tiles along the base of the east wall in the basement floor and a sump crock and sump pump in the northeast corner. [R.11,p.2,¶9, App.,p.53] Anderson then alleges that R&B "properly installed" the new drain tile system, sump crock and sump pump and made certain that said system was in good working order and draining to the proper area of the property.[R.11,p.2,¶10, App.,p.53]

Anderson claimed that 4th Dimension and R&B were liable to him for indemnification and contribution. R&B denied all liability in its answer and sought dismissal of the third party complaint. [R.20]

When West Bend moved for summary judgment, the owner of R&B, Bruce Klamrowski ("Klamrowski") submitted an affidavit in which he agreed that per Anderson's instructions, R&B performed structural reinforcement of the basement walls of the house following the plans provided by 4th Dimension, the engineer hired by Anderson. [R.38,p.2 ¶3, App.,p.159] Klamrowski also stated that at Anderson's instructions, R&B installed a sump crock, and replaced approximately four feet of interior drain tile along the east wall leading to the sump crock. There

was over 120 feet of drain tile in the house that R&B had nothing to do with. [R.38,p.2,¶5, App.,p.159] Klamrowski also stated that other people hired by Anderson worked on the house, including the basement and foundation, and that Anderson, or others working at his direction, installed the sump pump itself,³ installed the piping which directed water from the sump pump crock to the exterior of the house, performed work on the sewer laterals leading to the house, did grading work around the foundation, and as well as other work. [R.38,p.2,¶4, App.,p.159]

In his affidavit, Klamrowski stated that the water coming into the basement and the clogging of the drain tiles was not the result of R&B's performing defective work: "R&B properly performed all its work as directed and as per the plans prepared by 4th Dimension. All of R&B's work was done in a professional manner, and there were no defects in the work furnished by R&B." [R.38,p.2,¶7, App.,p.159] Anderson did not allege that R&B's work was defective; in his third party complaint Anderson alleged that R&B's work was performed properly. [R.11,pp.2-3,¶¶7,10, App.,pp.52-53]

Both the pleadings and Klamrowski's affidavit left an unresolved issue of fact as to who and what caused water leakage into the basement and the clogging

³Although the third party complaint alleges that R&B installed the sump pump, in an affidavit filed in connection with R&B's summary judgment motion, Anderson agreed that R&B did not perform this work. [R.51,p.4,¶11]

of the drain tiles. When West Bend moved for summary judgment, the trial court saw no insurable claim. However, when the matter was later before the trial court on R&B's motion for summary judgment, the trial court stated that the pleadings raised an issue as to whether the work performed by R&B, although not defective in itself, might have been a cause of the leakage into the basement.

The trial court first stated [R.65,pp.16-17, App.,pp.44-45]:

You know, there's -- I've reviewed -- If you look at Jendusa and his report, there appears to be -- assuming that the standards are those of Wisconsin Association of Foundation Repair Professionals. According to him, there's some deviations which are significant in the design by 4-D of the basement walls. Now I'm not concluding that that is in fact the standard or that in fact their deviation, if there is one, would contribute to the condition of this faulty leaky basement. But it is a disputed fact.

The trial court then suggested [R.65,pp.18-19, App.,pp.46-47] that even though R&B followed the exact specifications prepared by the engineering firm and furnished to him by Anderson, there could be an issue as to whether R&B would share responsibility for the damages:

Now I understand that you're hanging your hat on these other receipts that say that is in a workmanlike fashion, but it seems to me that if in fact they were installed to the specifications that he warranted for and in fact he referred to them throughout the warranty. That is, he was going to place the beams consistent with 4-D's specifications throughout all of it. I don't know that we have the facts today. But I wonder whether or not R&B shares responsibility, but we'll find that out through discovery I suspect.

When the trial court denied R&B's motion for summary judgment, it had before it the same pleadings it considered when it dismissed West Bend.

ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals reviews the summary judgment *de novo*.

The Court of Appeals reviews a summary judgment applying the same standards and methods used by the circuit court. *Frost ex rel. Anderson v.*Whitbeck, 2002 WI 129, ¶ 4, 257 Wis. 2d 80, 84, 654 N.W.2d 225, 227. Cases involving the interpretation of an insurance contract present a question of law which the court reviews *de novo. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Am. Girl, Inc.*, 2004 WI 2, ¶ 23, 268 Wis. 2d 16, 32, 673 N.W.2d 65, 73 ("American Girl").

2. If any one claim arguably falls within the policy coverage, regardless of the merits of the claim, West Bend has a duty to defend R&B.

The focus of this case is on West Bend's duty to defend R&B. In Se. Wisconsin Prof'l Baseball Park Dist. v. Mitsubishi Heavy Indus. Am., Inc., 2007 WI App 185, ¶¶ 41-42, 304 Wis. 2d 637, 675-676, 738 N.W.2d 87, 106-107, this Court determined:

The duty to defend exists if any one claim arguably falls within the policy coverage. *Grube*, 173 Wis.2d at 72, 496 N.W.2d 106. The coverage need only be arguable or fairly debatable. *Radke*, 217 Wis.2d at 44, 577 N.W.2d 366; *Newhouse*, 176 Wis.2d at 835, 501 N.W.2d 1

As to the methodology of determining coverage, the court stated in *American Girl*, at 2004 WI 2, ¶ 24, 268 Wis. 2d 32-33, 673 N.W.2d 73:

Our procedure follows three steps. First, we examine the facts of the insured's claim to determine whether the policy's insuring agreement makes an initial grant of coverage. If it is clear that the policy was

not intended to cover the claim asserted, the analysis ends there. If the claim triggers the initial grant of coverage in the insuring agreement, we next examine the various exclusions to see whether any of them preclude coverage of the present claim. Exclusions are narrowly or strictly construed against the insurer if their effect is uncertain. *Cardinal v. Leader Nat'l Ins. Co.*, 166 Wis.2d 375, 382, 480 N.W.2d 1 (1992).

See also *Acuity v. Soc'y Ins.*, 2012 WI App 13, ¶ 14, 339 Wis. 2d 217, 226, 810 N.W.2d 812, 817.

R&B denies that it is liable to any party in these proceedings under any theory of liability. However, for 26 years R&B has paid West Bend for insurance that obliges West Bend to defend R&B against claims made against it, regardless of the merits of such claims. [R.38,p.3 ¶9, App.,p.160]

The insurance policy that West Bend sold to R&B provides for a duty to defend R&B against any suit that seeks bodily injury or property damage from R&B, as stated in Section 1 of the policy:

1. Insuring Agreement

- a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and *duty to defend the insured against any suit seeking those damages*. However, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any "suit" seeking damages for "bodily injury" for "property damage" to which this insurance does not apply. We may, at our discretion, investigate any "occurrence" and settle any claim or "suit" that may result. But:
 - (1) The amount people pay for damages is limited as described in Section III Limits of Insurance; and

(2) Our right and duty to defend ends when we have used up the applicable limit of insurance...

[emphasis added] This Court has interpreted this language such that the duty to defend is significantly more broad than the duty to indemnify.

In Se. Wisconsin Prof'l Baseball Park Dist. v. Mitsubishi Heavy Indus. Am., Inc., 2007 WI App 185, 304 Wis. 2d 637, 675, 738 N.W.2d 87, 106, the court stated:

The duty to defend an insured is based on the language in the insurance contract. *Radke v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 217 Wis.2d 39, 43, 577 N.W.2d 366 (Ct.App.1998). "If coverage is fairly debatable, the insurer is estopped from arguing coverage defenses." Id. at 47, 577 N.W.2d 366 (citing *United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Good Humor Corp.*, 173 Wis.2d 804, 818–19, 496 N.W.2d 730 (Ct.App.1993)). "The duty to defend is broader than the separate duty to indemnify because the duty to defend is triggered by arguable, as opposed to actual, coverage." *Id.* at 44, 577 N.W.2d 366; see also *Newhouse v. Citizens Sec. Mut. Ins. Co.*, 176 Wis.2d 824, 834–35, 501 N.W.2d 1 (1993). The scope of the claim is determined from the face of the pleadings, not from evidence extrinsic thereto. *Radke*, 217 Wis.2d at 43, 577 N.W.2d 366; *Newhouse*, 176 Wis.2d at 834–35, 501 N.W.2d 1; see also *Grube v. Daun*, 173 Wis.2d 30, 72, 496 N.W.2d 106 (Ct.App.1992).

The court elaborated on how the scope of the claim is determined from the face of the pleadings in footnote 19:

"It is the nature of the claim alleged against the insured which is controlling even though the suit may be groundless, false or fraudulent." *Sustache*, No. 06AP939, slip op. ¶ 10^4 (citing *Grieb v*.

⁴Estate of Sustache v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 2008 WI 87, ¶ 20, 311 Wis. 2d 548, 560, 751 N.W.2d 845, 851

Citizens Cas. Co. of N.Y., 33 Wis.2d 552, 558, 148 N.W.2d 103 (1967)).

The court continued:

The duty to defend exists if any one claim arguably falls within the policy coverage. *Grube*, 173 Wis.2d at 72, 496 N.W.2d 106. The coverage need only be arguable or fairly debatable. *Radke*, 217 Wis.2d at 44, 577 N.W.2d 366; *Newhouse*, 176 Wis.2d at 835, 501 N.W.2d 1

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