# RECEIVED

SUPREME COURT OF WISCOSS SAL-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Maya Elaine Smith Plaintiff,

v.

Jeff Anderson, d/b/a Anderson Real Estate Services Defendant, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

4<sup>th</sup> Dimension Design, Inc.

Third-Party Defendant,

R&B Construction, Inc.

Third-Party Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner,

West Bend Mutual Insurance Company

Intervenor-Respondent.

# RESPONSE BRIEF OF INTERVENOR-RESPONDENT WEST BEND MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Court of Appeals District I Appeal No. 2015AP000079 Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No.: 13-CV-7085

> Jeffrey Leavell Danielle N. Rousset JEFFREY LEAVELL, S.C. 723 S. Main Street Racine, WI 53403 (262) 633-7322

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

#### II. ARGUMENT

R&B's entire premise for this appeal appears to be based on what it calls "inconsistent decisions" by the Circuit Court, (R&B Br. p. 21, 28, 31), when it first decided West Bend has no duty to defend R&B and then later, after West Bend was dismissed, when it decided there could be some facts that showed liability on the part of R&B that precluded dismissing R&B from this lawsuit. R&B forgets this is a review of a Court of Appeals' decision that conducted a *de novo* review of a Circuit Court summary judgment decision. The Circuit Court's analysis is immaterial. *Lamar Cent. Outdoor, LLC v. Wis. DOT,* 2008 WI App 187, ¶16, 315 Wis. 2d 190, 201, 762 N.W.2d 745, 750. Whether the Circuit Court's analysis was deficient or inconsistent makes no difference to the result. For this reason alone, this Court should reject R&B's argument and affirm.

Further, as is explained in detail below, the Circuit Court did not make inconsistent rulings and moreover, its decision and rationale to not dismiss R&B from this suit is not properly before this Court on appeal. Notably, the Circuit Court *did not* hold "there could be a negligence claim against R&B of the sort that ought to have been covered by R&B's policy with West Bend" as R&B misrepresents to this Court. (R&B Br. p. 28.) Both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals scrutinized the complaint and the third-party complaint in determining there were no allegations of "property damage" caused by an "occurrence." Both Courts declared West Bend has no duty to defend or indemnify R&B in this lawsuit. Thus, R&B's first "issue" of whether a third-party complaint can state a claim invoking an insurance company's duty to defend when the complaint against the third-party plaintiff is for misrepresentation, is really not an issue present in this case at all but is more so a hypothetical.

R&B's second issue, whether it should be able to "introduce information not stated in the pleadings to show that there would be claims requiring his insurer to provide a defense," has already been adequately addressed by this Court in *Everson*, 2005 WI 51, ¶11, 280 Wis. 2d at 9, 695 N.W.2d at 302, when it said "we have held that an insurer's duty to defend its insured is triggered by comparing the allegations of the complaint to the terms of the insurance policy." This conclusion was based on decades of Wisconsin decisions, and they should not be disturbed. "[The complaint] allegations must state or claim a cause of action for the liability insured against or for which indemnity is paid in order for the suit to come within any defense coverage of the policy...." *Qualman*, 163 Wis. 2d at 364, 471 N.W.2d at 284, quoting Grieb v. Citizens Casualty Co., 33 Wis. 2d 552, 557, 148 N.W.2d 103 (1967). "The duty to defend is triggered by the allegations contained within the four corners of the complaint." Newhouse v. Citizens Sec. Mut. Ins. Co., 176 Wis. 2d 824, 835, 501 N.W.2d 1, 5 (1993).

The third issue proposed by R&B, "can a party denied a defense after his insurance company succeeds on a motion for summary judgment reassert a right to a defense if later developments in the case show that he is entitled to a defense," is answered by existing duty to defend law in Wisconsin. That is, the duty to defend is determined by comparing the complaint allegations to the policy, and therefore, if and only if the complaint allegations are amended in a way that invokes a duty to defend, then a party might successfully retender to its insurance company.

R&B takes what should be a straight-forward coverage analysis and twists it into something unnecessarily convoluted and complicated. Contrary to R&B's assertions, this case is neither challenging nor are the pleadings unclear. (R&B Br. p. 29.) In reality, the coverage analysis is quite simple - - West Bend owes no duty to defend R&B because there are no allegations anywhere in the complaint or thirdparty complaint of "property damage" caused by an "occurrence." A. West Bend has no duty to defend or indemnify R&B because the third-party complaint for contribution and indemnification is derivative of the plaintiff's complaint, and merely passes through the allegations of liability asserted in the complaint, and the complaint does not allege "property damage" caused by an "occurrence."

R&B complains, (R&B Br. p. 30-31), that the Court of Appeals' decision implies that the complaint dictates whether a third-party complaint may state an insurable claim. This is actually correct when the third-party complaint, like the one here, merely passes along liability alleged in the complaint. This pass-along liability would be consistent with *Wis. Stat.* §803.05, the statute enabling third-party complaints.

The third-party complaint here is one for contribution and indemnification and is therefore derivative of the plaintiff's complaint, and seeks to pass through to R&B the liability asserted in the complaint. R&B concedes that the third-party complaint sought to pass on the damage liability asserted in the underlying complaint: "[b]y filing his third-party complaint, Anderson sought to recover the damages claimed by Smith from R&B and 4<sup>th</sup> Dimension." (R&B Br. p. 13.)

"Contribution claims are dependent and stem from the original action; without it they would not exist at all." *Whirlpool Corp. v.* 

12

Ziebert, 197 Wis. 2d 144, 155, 539 N.W.2d 883, 887 (1995). See also Sheila M. Sullivan et al., Anderson on Wisconsin Insurance Law §7.29 (7th ed. 2015), citing Wausau Tile, Inc. v. County Concrete Corp., 226 Wis. 2d 235, 269, 593 N.W.2d 445, 460 (1999) ("An insurance company that had no duty to defend the insured because the complaint did not allege 'bodily injury' or 'property damage' also had no duty to defend contribution and indemnification claims arising out of the same complaint.") Therefore, the third-party complaint can only pass on damage liability alleged in the complaint, and if there is no duty to defend the complaint then ordinarily there could be no duty to defend a complaint third-party alleging garden-variety contribution or indemnification.

Further, almost this exact issue has previously been addressed by this Court. In *Wausau Tile, Inc. v. County Concrete Corp.*, 226 Wis. 2d 235, 269, 593 N.W.2d 445, 460 (1999), this Court held that an insurance company that had no duty to defend the insured because the complaint did not allege "property damage" also had no duty to defend the contribution and indemnification claims arising out of the same complaint. Although the complaint in *Wausau Tile* was not for misrepresentation, it is a distinction without a difference because regardless of what legal theories were alleged, neither the complaint in *Wausau Tile,* nor here, allege covered "property damage."

Moreover, both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals expressly reviewed the complaint and the third-party complaint and determined that neither triggered West Bend's duty to defend. Neither Court ignored the allegations of the third-party complaint just because the complaint did not allege liability for "property damage" caused by an "occurrence."

The Circuit Court expressly analyzed both the complaint and the third-party complaint in determining West Bend has no duty to defend or indemnify:

All right. I just don't see it. I'm going to grant the summary judgment on the issue of coverage. I just don't see what the occurrence is based on my review of all of the allegations in the complaint and the amended complaint and the third-party complaint. Additionally, you know, the third party complaint does not include any requests for property repairs or property damage. Third party complaint simply doesn't describe any occurrence as it is defined in the policy and it just seeks to affirmatively require that R&B preformed all repairs and work properly. And that by itself doesn't constitute an occurrence.

(R. 64-23-24.)(bold added.)

The Court of Appeals also expressly reviewed the third-party complaint to determine whether any of the allegations asserted an "occurrence" causing "property damage":

> In examining the terms of the policy along with the allegations in the amended complaint and the third-party complaint, we

conclude that none of the allegations can be construed as "occurrences" under the policy definition, even under the most liberal rules of pleading.

The allegations in the complaints at issue must state a claim for liability that West Bend insures against. *See Professional Office Bldgs.*, 145 Wis. 2d at 581-82. (Bold added.)

Like in *Qualman*, the pleadings here do not allege property damage or loss of property use.

. . .

Moreover, the third-party complaint states no theory of liability against R&B. It simply states that if Anderson is found liable to Smith, R&B should share liability. There is no contention that R&B's faulty workmanship caused the water exposure or the multiple issues that resulted therefrom. Indeed, the thirdparty complaint states that R&B's work was "performed in accord with the design drawings prepared by ... 4th Dimension Design, Inc.[,]" and was "properly installed." Neither complaint states a claim for which West Bend agreed to indemnify. Consequently, there is no duty to defend under the policy.

(Decision,  $\P13-17$ .) (bold added.)

Here, both courts held that the third-party complaint, when read alone, or in connection with the complaint, *did not* allege facts that triggered West Bend's duty to defend.

R&B misrepresents the Court of Appeals' decision by claiming the Court ignored the third-party complaint when determining West Bend has no duty to defend and instead focused only on the complaint and *Qualman*. (R&B Br. p. 29-30.) While the Court of Appeals did hold *Qualman* was dispositive, it undisputedly looked to both the complaint and the third-party complaint's allegations when determining West Bend has no duty to defend.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the pleadings here, like those in *Qualman*, do not allege "property damage," defined to be "physically injured tangible property," nor did they allege loss of use of property. Here, the plaintiff alleged she would have to repair or replace drain tile because, she alleged, the seller had misrepresented its condition. (R. 16-4, ¶7.) This is not a description of physically injured tangible property caused by an accident. Instead, this is the classic formulation and description of misrepresentation damages.

R&B's attempts to distinguish *Qualman* are in vain. Contrary to R&B's argument that the cost of repairing damage was not implicated in *Qualman*, (R&B Br. p. 33-34), some repair of the defective kitchen pipes and cracked basement walls was necessary in *Qualman* to bring the home into the condition that had been promised. *Qualman*, 163 Wis. 2d at 363, 471 N.W.2d at 284. This was also the case in *Stuart v. Weisflog*, 2008 WI 86, ¶7, 311 Wis. 2d at 500, 753 N.W.2d at 451-52 where the plaintiff's home suffered from rotted wood, warped windows, mold and mildew, drainage problems, inadequate ventilation and improper clearance to floor joists - - all of which undoubtedly needed to be repaired. However, the need for repair in these cases did not convert the complaint into one alleging accidentally caused property damage. "Simply because the underlying facts deal with defects in the property sold does not change the nature of the claim asserted by the [plaintiff] against the [defendant]. Nor does it change the risks the policy insured against." *Qualman*, 163 Wis. 2d at 367, 471 N.W.2d at 285.

This case is essentially "on all fours" with *Qualman* because the complaint allegations mimic the allegations of *Qualman*, and the third-party complaint only alleged a pass-through kind of a liability for indemnification. R&B wrongly argues, (R&B Br. p. 30), that *Qualman* is different because it was concerned with pecuniary loss, yet that is precisely what is repeatedly alleged here in the complaint. The plaintiff's complaint repeatedly uses the phrase "pecuniary damage" in paragraphs 18, 23, and 29. (R. 16-5-7.)

R&B quotes out of context the Court of Appeals' decision by stating "[t]he Court of Appeals stated, at ¶17, that the third-party complaint did not allege a theory of liability against R&B." (R&B Br. p. 31.) Although the Court of Appeals' decision does state that, it also goes on to say that the third-party complaint states "if Anderson is found liable to Smith, R&B should share liability." (Decision, ¶17.) That is the essence of a garden-variety contribution/indemnification cross-claim or third-party complaint that is dependent upon, or derivative of, the complaint's allegations. It is a theory of liability based on alleged facts found in the complaint.

Both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals' decisions were consistent with established Wisconsin precedent that holds damages stemming from misrepresentations made by a seller concerning the condition of property to be sold do not constitute "occurrences" causing "property damage" within the meaning of a liability policy under Wisconsin law. *Qualman*, 163 Wis. 2d at 366, 471 N.W.2d at 285; *see also Stuart*, 2008 WI 86, ¶45, 311 Wis. 2d at 518, 753 N.W.2d at 461; *see also Everson*, 2005 WI 51, ¶3, 280 Wis. 2d at 6, 695 N.W.2d at 300.

R&B wrongly argues that "property damage was done to the drain tile of the house," (R&B Br. p. 40), when in fact the complaint alleged that the drain tiles were plugged - - not that they were damaged - - and that the basement leaked and that the defendant performed structural repair work without obtaining the required permit. (R. 16-4,  $\P$ 5.)

R&B wrongly complains that if it had been sued in a separate action for damaging the home's drainage system, West Bend would be required to defend but not here where it occurs by a third-party complaint. (R&B Br. p. 31.) The duty to defend analysis is an objective view of the complaint allegations to determine whether they state an "occurrence" that caused "property damage." The analysis is no different if the allegations are made in a third-party complaint, such as here, or in a separate action against R&B.

If the third-party complaint allegations were identically made in a separate action, they would not invoke the duty to defend because when read on its own and in isolation from the complaint, the thirdparty complaint clearly does not contain allegations that trigger West Bend's duty to defend. The third-party complaint alleged R&B contracted with Anderson to perform foundation repairs. (R. 11-3, ¶3.) Specifically, Anderson alleged it hired R&B to reinforce the basement walls, (R. 11-4,  $\P$   $\P$  5-6), address basement water seepage, (R. 11-4,  $\P$  8), install "a new drain tile system and sump crock and sump pump," (R. 11-5, ¶¶9-10), and make "certain that said system was in good working" order and draining to the proper area of the property." (R. 11-5, ¶10.) Anderson alleged that R&B did its work "properly," (Id.), and as a result of that work, R&B is obliged to hold harmless defendant Anderson for Smith's claims of pecuniary damage by way of indemnification and contribution. (R. 11-5, ¶12; R. 11-6, ¶15.) Nothing in the third-party complaint allegations describe an accident or "occurrence" by which R&B caused "property damage."

19

R&B even admits that the third-party complaint alleged that R&B had "properly installed" the new drain tile system, sump crock and pump. (R&B Br. p. 15.) Consequently, the third-party complaint did not allege any accident or "property damage" for which R&B was liable. Instead, to the extent the third-party complaint posed any liability whatsoever on the part of R&B it was solely for indemnification and to be "held harmless." (R. 11-5, ¶12.) This generic indemnification claim would effectively pass on any liability the plaintiff proved against defendant Anderson, which is exclusively misrepresentation damage to put the buyer in the position that she should have been in based upon seller's representations, just like in Qualman. So, therefore, the Court of Appeals was absolutely correct when it said "there is no contention that R&B's faulty workmanship caused the water exposure or the multiple issues that resulted therefrom." (Decision, ¶17.)

R&B cites to American Girl, Kalchthaler, and Acuity v. Soc'y Ins., (R&B. Br. p. 36), to argue there is an "occurrence" here. However, in those decisions where the Court found claims of faulty workmanship constituted an "occurrence" causing "property damage" there were clear allegations of physical injury to tangible property. In Kalchthaler, leaky windows were alleged to have wrecked drapery and wallpaper.

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